Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs

1976

Woodland Theatres, Inc., a corporation v. ABC Intermountain Theatres, Inc., a corporation, and Plitt Intermountain Theaters, Inc., a corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the trial court err in holding that as a matter of law Woodland waived the defendants-respondents' forfeiture of the leasehold by accepting rental payments?
- II. Did the trial court err in holding that as a matter of law Woodland waived all of the defendants-respondents' breaches of the lease agreement by accepting rental payments?
- III. Did the trial court err in holding that as a matter of law there was no implied covenant on the part of the defendants-respondents to operate the Woodland Drive-In Theatre in good faith so that Woodland could receive the full benefit of performance under the lease agreement?

PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

After the complaints in these actions had been filed and before completion of discovery, the defendant-respondent

Plitt moved, pursuant to Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil
Procedure, for summary judgment in both actions and for a
consolidated hearing of its motions. Woodland responded with
a memorandum of points and authorities in opposition to Plitt's
motions for summary judgment. The hearing on the motions,
consolidated pursuant to stipulation of counsel for the
parties, was held on December 12, 1975. At the close of the
hearing, the court granted Plitt's motion for summary judgment
regarding Woodland's claims of forfeiture of the leasehold
and breaches of the lease agreement arising from alleged
failures to repair, maintain and improve the physical plant
of the Woodland Drive-In Theatre. The plaintiff-appellant
Woodland files this brief seeking to reverse the trial court's
summary judgment rulings.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Lease Agreement and Its Provisions.

On or about March 9, 1971, the plaintiff-appellant Woodland entered into a lease agreement with the defendant ABC. (A copy of the lease agreement is attached as Exhibit A.) Woodland Theatres, Inc., is a Utah corporation owning real property known as the Woodland Drive-In Theatre, located at 4005 South, 700 East, Salt Lake County, Utah. According to the

provisions of the lease agreement, Woodland leased the Woodland Drive-In Theatre to ABC for a fifteen (15) year term, with an option to renew the lease for an additional five (5) years. (See Exhibit A, Paragraphs 1 and 20.)

ABC agreed to pay a fixed annual rental of \$32,500.00 in equal monthly installments throughout the term of the lease. In addition, ABC covenanted to pay an annual percentage rental of fifteen percent (15%) of the gross admission receipts above \$183,333.00 and fifteen percent (15%) of the gross concession receipts in excess of \$65,000.00. The lease provided that ABC's records of gross admission and concession receipts would be open for Woodland's inspection during regular business hours. (See Exhibit A, Paragraph 2.)

Respecting maintenance, ABC covenanted, inter alia, to keep the theatre premises in good repair, replacing worn out or damaged equipment at its own expense. (See Exhibit A, Paragraph 8.) ABC further agreed to make improvements to the theatre premises, including enlarging the snack bar to approximately double its initial size, oiling and spreading a layer of rock chips on the theatre grounds, resurfacing portions of the theatre premises and repainting the theatre screen. (See Exhibit A, Paragraphs 7, 25, 28.) ABC also covenanted not to assign the leasehold without obtaining Woodland's written permission, not to be unreasonably withheld. (See Exhibit A, Paragraph 11.)

B. The Defendants-Respondents' Performance Under The Lease.

assigned the lease to a successor corporation, Plitt Intermountain Theatres, Inc., and Plitt and its employees took over the management of the theatre without any notice being given to Woodland. The substitution of Plitt for ABC constituted an unauthorized transfer of the leasehold in clear violation of the express terms of Paragraph 11 of the lease agreement providing that "[t]he Lessee [ABC] covenants and agrees that it will not assign this lease or enter into any sublease of the premises or any part thereof, without the written consent of the Lessor... " (See Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Interrogatories, Answer to Interrogatory No. 2.)

Neither Plitt nor ABC have adequately maintained the physical plant of the theatre, and it has deteriorated both visually and operationally over time. On an inspection of the theatre premises on June 24, 1974, Woodland found the theatre grounds strewn with papers and other garbage, the fence leaning and broken down in places, and water running through part of the theatre from a broken sprinkler connection.

Several speaker posts were broken, the screen tower paint was peeling and the screen was bare in places. The snack bar

addition was blocked off from the operating portion of the concession area by a cinder block wall, and the electrical system of the theatre was partially burned out, with auxiliary ground cables running to the back of the snack bar supplying power. (Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Interrogatories, Answer to Interrogatory No. 4.)

At a further inspection at the theatre on July 26, 1974, employees of Woodland observed the west and north driveways of the theatre broken and pitted in places, the theatre screen stained with rust and its paint peeling, several speaker posts broken down and many water connections broken. Many of the bubble lights at the entrance to the theatre were broken or removed, the fence was weathered and unpainted, and many speakers previously removed were unreplaced. At that time, the broken sprinkler, noted before, remained unrepaired, and some of the wiring through the theatre was still not functioning. (Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Interrogatories, Answer to Interrogatory No. 4.) The plaintiff-appellant's representatives inspected the theatre again on July 31, 1974 and found that the deteriorating conditions observed on July 26 had not been corrected. In addition, they found that there were peeling paint and standing water within the operating snack bar, and the surface of the theatre was in need of an application of oil and rock chips. The fence was patched

with odd pieces of wood and propped up by two-by-fours in places, and two large wires taped to an open junction box were exposed, with a large "Danger" sign painted near them. Seventy (70) speakers were totally inoperable, and forty-seven (47) more gave poor sound. (Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Interrogatories, Answer to Interrogatory No. 4.)

Drive-In Theatre to deteriorate to a great extent, ABC and Plitt undermined the business of the theatre. The facilities that they provided were inadequate to accommodate the theatre's patrons. For example, on or about June 24, 1975, Eugene Woodland was contacted by Kenny Lloyd, local branch manager for Twentieth Century Fox. Mr. Lloyd reported that during a showing of a Fox film at the Woodland Drive-In Theatre, only 518 speakers were operational, and the theatre was turning away hundreds of patrons due to the unavailability of operable speakers. (Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Interrogatories, Answer to Interrogatory No. 4.)

ABC had covenanted in the lease agreement to enlarge the snack bar to approximately double its size at the inception of the agreement within six (6) months of the effective date of the lease. (See Exhibit A, Paragraph 7.) An addition to the snack bar was constructed, but until August of 1975 it was

blocked off from the operating portion of the snack bar and used solely for storage. (Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Interrogatories, Answer to Interrogatory No. 5.) Projected increases in concession sales were thus stifled by the defendants-respondents' lack of good faith in implementing the provisions of the lease agreement mandating an addition to the snack bar.

C. Woodland's Suits

Woodland filed its action against ABC and Plitt for unlawful detainer on August 21, 1974 and its action for breach of the lease and termination of the leasehold on September 24, 1974. Prior to those filings, a notice of default and notice to quit the Woodland Drive-In Theatre premises were served on ABC and Plitt on August 2, 1974, and from that date, Woodland did not accept rental payments for subsequent periods of the defendants-respondents' occupancy of the theatre premises.

(Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, pp. 6-7.)

Negotiations aimed at settling the differences between Woodland and the defendants-respondents were conducted by counsel for the parties, and a tentative agreement was reached in December, 1974. Assuming that the settlement would be ratified by the defendants-respondents, Woodland accepted rental payments soon thereafter as a good faith gesture,

ment should fall through. When the terms of the negotiated settlement were repudiated by the defendants-respondents, Woodland continued with the prosecution of its lawsuits.

(Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 7.)

The defendant-respondent Plitt subsequently moved for summary judgment in both of Woodland's actions on the ground that by accepting rental payments, Woodland thereby waived all of Plitt's and ABC's breaches of the lease agreement. also argued that as a matter of law there was no implied obligation under the lease agreement to make payments under its percentage rental provisions, introducing no factual evidence in support of its argument. The trial court granted summary judgment in Plitt's favor on Woodland's claims of forfeiture of the leasehold and breaches of the lease agreement through failure to repair, maintain and improve the theatre premises. However, its rulings were based solely on the flat, legal propositions advanced by the defendants-respondents, and it made no factual determinations relating to Woodland's claims. Woodland appeals to this Court to reverse the trial court's holdings and reinstate its actions for unlawful detainer and breach of the lease and termination of the leasehold.

BATTLE BATTLE

ARGUMENT

- The trial court erred in finding that as a matter of law, Woodland waived the defendants-respondents' forfeiture of the leasehold and breaches of the lease agreement by accepting rent. Initially it should be noted that defendants' motion for summary judgment was based solely upon the fact that plaintiff had accepted rent. Defendant did not assert or show that as a matter of uncontroverted fact, plaintiff had expressed or demonstrated an intent to waive its claims of forfeiture. The defendant did not assert or show that as a matter of uncontroverted fact the plaintiff had undertaken activities which clearly constituted a waiver of its claims of forfeiture. The defendant relied solely on the proposition that the acceptance of rent by a landlord as a matter of law, and without regard to the attendant factual circumstances, waives all past claims of forfeiture and breach. That proposition is clearly erroneous and the Court's acceptance thereof in its order of summary judgment is improper and should be reversed.
- A. Woodland did not waive the defendants-respondents' forfeiture of the leasehold by accepting rent. Waiver is uniformly recognized as the intentional relinquishment of a known right. See Lucas Hunt Village Co. v. Klein, 218 S.W.

2d 595, 599 (Mo. 1949). In the disposition of a claim of waiver, it is the intention of the party charged with making the waiver which is controlling. See Brazeal v. Bokelman, 270 F.2d 943, 947 (8th Cir. 1959); In re Wil-Low Cafeterias, Inc., 95 F.2d 306, 309 (2d Cir. 1938).

Accordingly, a determination of whether a landlord has waived a right or claim of forfeiture to a leasehold is a factual question concerning the intentional relinguishment by the landlord. Concerning the showing which must be made in order to establish a waiver, the Missouri Supreme Court in Lucas Hunt Village Co. v. Klein, 218 S.W.2d 595, 599 (Mo. 1949), unauthorized subletting, affirmed the rule that:

... [T]he intention of the party charged with making the waiver is controlling, and if not shown by express declaration, but implied by conduct, there must be a clear, unequivocal and decisive act of the party showing such purpose, and so manifestly consistent with and indicative of an intention to waive that no other reasonable explanation is possible. Lucas Hunt Village Co. v. Kelin, 218 S.W.2d 595, 599 (Mo. 1949).

See also B.J.M. Realty Corp. v. Ruggieri, 326 F.2d 281, 284 (2d Cir. 1963); Brazeal v. Bokelman, 270 F.2d 943, 947 (8th

and recommendate of the contract of the contract of the properties.

and a subject of the second

Cir. 1959); <u>In re Wil-Low Cafeterias, Inc.</u>, 95 F.2d 306, 309 (2d Cir. 1938); <u>Miller v. Reidy</u>, 260 P. 358, 360 (Cal. 1927).

In suits involving a claim of forfeiture of a leasehold, courts have been unwilling to find claims of forfeiture or breach waived by the mere acceptance of rent in circumstances in which the landlord had evidenced a contrary intent. In that regard courts have recognized the institution of litigation against a tenant as a clear indication that the landlord has elected and is pursuing its right of forfeiture despite the fact that rental payments are made in the interim.

For example, in the case of Fogel v. Hogan, 496
P.2d 322, 324 (Colo. 1972), defendants filed a cross claim
to terminate a lease, asserting as a basis therefore that the
premises had not been maintained as provided in the lease.
The tenant argued that the landlord had waived its claims of
breach by accepting rental payments during the pendency of
the action. The Colorado Supreme Court of Appeals, however,
held that:

. . . when a tenant continues in possession pending a determination of an action brought by the landlord to enforce a forfeiture, the tenant is under an obligation to pay rent and acceptance of these payments does not constitute waiver of the breach. (496 P.2d at 324.)

Similarly, in <u>Merkowitz v. Mahoney</u>, 215 P.2d 317 (Colo. 1949), a landlord brought suit to repossess a leasehold charging that the tenant had operated the premises in violation of the law and in breach of the lease. The tenant argued that the landlord's acceptance of rent during the pendency of the action constituted a waiver of its claims of forfeiture. Rejecting the tenant's argument, the Supreme Court of Colorado stated:

Where the landlord upon breach of a covenant gives notice of forfeiture and brings an action for possession, his suit presumably constitutes a final election to terminate the lease. lease being terminated, the landlord is entitled to possession, and neither the landlord nor tenant is further bound by provisions of the lease as to the remainder of its term. However, where the right of the landlord to forfeit the term is disputed by the tenant and he continues in possession pending a determination of the action brought by the landlord to enforce a forfeiture, the tenant is under obligation of payment to the landlord for his possession. (Id.at 320.)

The court held that although a landlord could agree during the pendency of litigation to accept back rent and terminate litigation, a determination of whether payments accepted during litigation were pursuant to such an agreement would have to be made from the circumstances of the case.

(215 P.2d at 321.) The court, however, clearly held that the receipt of rental does not necessarily constitute waiver. In that regard, the court adopted the reasoning expressed in

Myers v. Herskowitz, 165 P. 1031, 1033 (Cal. 1917), quoting that decision as follows:

The tenant having succeeded in retaining possession of the premises during the pendency of the action, plaintiff was entitled to compensation therefor, and after the benefit had been received by the defendant the plaintiff might reasonably accept such compensation to which he was entitled without being held to have waived the right of action which he was then prosecuting.

See also Fogel v. Hogan, 496 P.2d 322 (Colo. 1972); Wecht v.
Anderson, 444 P.2d 501, 505 (Nev. 1968).

In this case the clear intent expressed and demonstrated at all times by the plaintiff-appellant was to fully litigate its claims of forfeiture. At no time did Woodland express or imply that its claims for forfeiture or breach would be dropped absent a full settlement with defendantsrespondents, nor has it by its course of action given any indication to that effect. In this regard, it is important to note that defendants-respondents made no claim whatsoever that plaintiff-appellant led them to believe it was waiving its claims of forfeiture. Defendants-respondents did not assert that they held that belief in reliance upon any actions of the plaintiff-appellant. On the contrary, defendantsrespondents rely solely on the fact that Woodland accepted the rent for defendants'respondents' possession of its property during the pendency of the actions to defeat

Woodland's claims. Such a superficial analysis cannot support summary judgment, particularly in the absence of any factual determinations whatsoever. The trial court's order of summary judgment should be reversed and Woodland's claims of forfeiture of the leasehold reinstated.

B. Woodland did not waive the defendants-respondents' breaches of the lease agreement by accepting rent. The principle that a clearly demonstrated intent is essential to a finding of waiver applies with even greater force to substantive breaches of the lease agreement than to the forfeitures discussed in the preceding section. A lessor does not forfeit all rights to enforce the terms of a lease agreement by accepting rental payments. Nevertheless, defendants based their motion for summary judgment on the ground that acceptance of rent by a landlord with knowledge of breaches of the lease agreement, without more, waives those breaches as a matter of law, and its motion was granted by the trial court.

To the contrary, courts have held that material breaches of a lease agreement are not waived by the acceptance of rent. See Atkinson v. Trehan, 334 N.Y.S. 2d 293 (1972);

Wecht v. Anderson, 444 P.2d 501, 504-05 (Nev. 1968); Klein v. Longo, 34 A.2d 359, 360 (Mun. Ct. of Appeals,

D.C. 1943). In the <u>Wecht</u> case, the lessee had covenanted to construct a fifty (50) ton capacity retort for refining mercury on mineral-rich land by a certain date and never fulfilled that obligation. In the meantime, the lessor continued to accept rent but ultimately sought to terminate the lease on the basis of the lessee's breach in not building the retort. The court ruled that the lessor had not waived the lessee's breach by accepting rental payments with knowledge of the breach.

In Fogel v. Hogan, 496 P.2d 322 (Colo. 1972), the lessee failed adequately to maintain the leased premises and thus breached the maintenance provision of the lease agree-Id. at 324. In a suit filed by the lessee against the ment. lessors, the lessors filed a cross-claim for termination of the leasehold and continued to collect rental payments throughout the pendency of the action. The lessee argued that the lessors had waived any breaches of the lease agreement by accepting rent while their action proceeded. However, the court disagreed, finding that the lessee was obligated to continue making rental payments as long as he remained on the leased premises. Id. The factual situation in the Fogel case is strikingly similar to that in the actions presently before this Court, and the same principle should apply.

To accept the defendants-respondents' argument that the acceptance of rent waives all foregoing breaches of a lease

agreement as a matter of law would narrowly limit the choice of remedies available to a lessor faced with a lessee's breaches. The lessor would be left with the options of foregoing rent while filing suit to terminate the leasehold, or of accepting rent while suffering the consequences of the lessee's breaches without redress. The proposition is absurd on its face.

A landlord is fully entitled to enforce the terms of a lease without requiring its termination. The injured lessor thus may file suit to require compliance with provisions of a lease agreement or to secure an award of damages for the lessee's breaches while receiving payments of rent.

Transport and the control of the con

Parasta displayer in this section is the say some about the section for the experience

ndinin ili kifilitin yarayaysi inta ili asali kula ili ili kanali ili nsakarinya. Finili kifiyotakan ay lambin sa d

areas de Asertabro especial do roma establica dos ribidos do referencia de Comercia de Comercia de Comercia de

The Arman Commence of the green in the written report for example for the Arman.

rije pagasagan i kabi sa remijah jia i kabilar tahung 12 a alah i i kabarasar sa daga danga

Kristinas villa artista par ja vieta kai terra karal privita artika kali sa da jaja karak ilista asi

omboling and see a record book med both mid-compani kew books a

1918 - Alexandro de Carlos de Carlos

or community grant and the way of contract the project makes figure to deep at 17 and

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