1976

Woodland Theatres, Inc., a corporation v. ABC Intermountain Theatres, Inc., a corporation and Plitt Intermountain Theaters, Inc., a corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Plaintiff at the same time seeks both to forfeit the lease and to collect damages because of the various breaches which it alleges. Plaintiff states three separate issues, but there are really only two questions in issue on this appeal. The main question centers on the effect of plaintiff's having accepted rental payments with knowledge of the alleged breaches

checks of Plitt Intermountain Theatres, Inc. are enclosed:" (R. 90, Vol. 2) If evidence outside the record were admitted, it would show that plaintiff's counsel conceded in the one conversation when he requested repayment of the rent that by accepting the checks the question of waiver was thereby raised and it was at least waiving the asserted breach for the alleged assignment of the lease. Defendant has not previously raised this because it considers it improper to raise matters outside the record, in the nature of simple conversation between counsel, but in light of plaintiff's repeated assertions as to intentions in accepting the rent, this point should be mentioned.

for which it claims the right to forfeit the lease and also to collect damages. The basic issue presented for determination by this court is whether by acceptance of rental payments under the lease, with knowledge of the alleged breaches, the lessor (plaintiff) waived those breaches. Waiver of the breaches would necessarily preclude utilization of the remedy of forfeiture. Plaintiff bases its claim for damages upon what it claims to be an implied obligation of the tenant to maximize revenues from operation of the leased premises and this raises the second issue, whether the tenant (defendant in this appeal) had an obligation under the lease to maximize the revenues from the leased premises.

These issues will be discussed in separate order.

I
BY ACCEPTANCE OF RENTAL PAYMENTS WITH
KNOWLEDGE OF THE BREACHES ALLEGED BY
PLAINTIFF, PLAINTIFF WAIVED THE BREACHES

The principle that by proper expressions or conduct a landlord may waive his rights arising from breaches of a lease by his tenant is universally recognized. Plaintiff does not appear to quarrel with this fundamental rule but attempts to subvert that rule by insisting that whether a waiver exists is

somehow a matter resting upon the subjective intention of the landlord and suggests that the objective evidence of waiver, that is the acceptance of rent, must be ignored. That, however, is not the law.

Acceptance of Rental Payments
Waives the Alleged Breaches
as a Matter of Law

The cases are legion, near unanimous, in holding that the acceptance of rent with knowledge of breaches of the lease constitutes as a matter of law a waiver of the alleged breaches. Jensen v. O.K. Investment Corp., 29 Utah 2d 231, 507 P.2d 713 (1973); Bailey v. Zlotnick, 133 F.2d 35 (D.C. App. 1942); Re Hool Realty Company, 2 F.2d 334 (7th Cir. 1924); Wing, Inc. v. Arnold, 107 S.2d 765 (Fla. 1959); Garbaczewski v. Vanucci 96 N.E.2d 653 (Ill. 1950); Bobb v. Frank L. Talbot Theatre Company, 221 S.W. 372 (Mo. 1920); Plassmeyer v. Brenta, 94 A.2d 508 (N.J. 1953); Thaophilakos v. Costello, 54 S.W. 2d 203 (Tex. 1932); Fredeking v. Grimmer, 86 S.E.2d 554 (W. Va. 1955); Major v. Hall, 251 So.2d 444 (La. 1971); Four Seasons, Inc. v. New Orleans Silversmith, Inc., 223 S.2d 686 (La. 1969); Edwards Fine Furniture Inc. v. Ditullio, 252 N.E.2d 348 (Mass. 1948);

Atkinson v. Trehan, 334 N.Y.S.2d 293 (1972); Larson v. Sjogren, 226 P.2d 177 (Wyo. 1951); Brazeal v. Bokelman, 270 F.2d 943 (8th Cir. 1959); Borst v. Ruff, 77 A.2d 343 (Conn. 1950); Sanders v. Satlive Bros. & Co., 174 N.W. 267 (Iowa, 1919); Guptill v. Macon Stone Supply Co., 79 S.E. 854 (Ga. 1913); Bedford Investment Co. v. Folb, 180 P.2d 361 (Cal. 1920); Snyder v. Hill, 45 N.W.2d 757 (Neb. 1951); Perry v. Waddelow, 145 F.Supp. 349 (E.D. Ill., 1956); Weiss v. Johnson, 190 N.E.2d 834 (Ill. 1963); Venters v. Reynolds, 354 S.W.2d 521 (Ky. 1962); Globe Leather & Shoe Findings, Inc. v. Goldburgh, 159 N.E.2d 338 (Mass. 1959); Flying Service, Inc. v. Abitz, 386 S.W.2d 399 (Mo. 1965); Reno Realty & Investment Co. v. Thornstein, 301 P.2d 1051 (Nev. 1956); Fairchild Realty v. Spiegel, Inc., 98 S.E.2d 871 (N.C. 1957); Thomas Peebles & Co. v. Sherman, 181 N.W. 715 (Minn. 1921); Port of Walla Walla v. Sun Glo Producers, Inc., 504 P.2d 324 (Wash. 1912); Katz v. Miller, 133 N.W. 1091 (Wis. 1912); Bolling v. King Coal Theaters, 41 S.E.2d 59 (Va. 1947); Amisano v. Shaw, 227 S.W.2d 951 (Ark. 1950); Butterfield v. Duquesne Mining Co., 182 P.2d 102 (Ariz. 1947).

These cases, representing 28 jurisdictions, are but a few of the vast number of cases supporting this general rule.

Even where a lawsuit has been commenced based on the breaches alleged by the landlord, this rule of waiver is applied where rent is accepted after suit is commenced. Bedford Investment Co. v. Folb, 180 P.2d 361 (Cal. 1947); Jones v. Della Maria, 191 P.943 (Cal. 1920); Guptill v. Macon Stone Supply Co., 79 S.E.854 (Ga. 1913); Borst v. Ruff, 77 A.2d 343 (Conn. 1950); Fairchild Realty v. Spiegel, Inc., 98 S.E.2d 871 (N.C. 1957). Indeed, even where rent was accepted by the landlord in the midst of appeal, the rule has been applied. Snyder v. Hill, 45 N.W.2d 757 (Neb. 1951). It is conceded that on this point, one case cited by plaintiff, which although based on different facts, can be interpreted as holding to the contrary.

Typical of the cases holding that by the acceptance of rent the landlord waives breaches of the lease, is Bedford Investment Company v. Folb, 180 P.2d 361 (Cal. 1947), where the lessee sublet the premises without the consent of the lessor. Based on this breach an unlawful detainer action was commenced. In the midst of the action the landlord accepted the payment of rent. Finding such acceptance to constitute a waiver of the right to maintain the action, the court noted:

"Respondent's acceptance of payment of the rental after the action was filed bars the right to forfeit the lease. The enforcement of covenants for forfeiture are avoided whenever possible. . . . Since it is undisputed that the rent was paid up to the date of trial, the finding that respondent was entitled to damages in the amount of the rental value of \$8.33 per day from May 31, 1946, and the judgment for that amount were contrary to the evidence and therefore erroneous. The payment of rent obviously bars any judgment against appellants for the rent and it likewise bars a judgment either for damages or for possession." Id. at 363. (Emphasis added).

The language in another California decision explains well the basis for these decisions. In Jones v. Della Maria, 191 P.943 (Cal. 1920), the landlord sued to forfeit the lease because of the tenant's failure to post a bond required by the lease. While the suit was pending, the landlord accepted past due rent. In finding the acceptance to constitute a waiver, the California court stated:

"The acceptance of such rent by plaintiff was a waiver of defendant's forfeiture of the leasehold and of plaintiff's right to maintain this action." Id. at 943.

The court then explained:

"The right to recover possession in an action such as this is based on the idea that the tenant has forfeited his leasehold. Notwithstanding the breach by a lessee of any

covenant that he may have made in the lease contract, the lessor may or may not elect to treat the breach as a forfeiture of the lease. Here, by his notice to give the bond or re-deliver possession, served November 11, 1917, and by this action for restitution of possession and the cancellation of the lease, plaintiff elected to treat the lease as forfeited. But notwithstanding this election, he thereafter could waive the forfeiture of the lease and his right to insist thereon as a ground for restitution of possession and cancellation of the lease contract. This plaintiff did by accepting rent for months succeeding that in which he served upon defendant the three days' notice. Waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right, or such conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of such right - an election by one to forego some advantage he could have taken or insisted upon. A person who is in a position to assert a right or insist upon an advantage may, by his words or conduct, and without reference to any act or conduct of the other party affected thereby, waive such right. Once such right is waived, it is gone forever; the person who has waived the right will thereafter be precluded from asserting it. 'The courts, not favoring forfeitures, are usually inclined to take hold of any circumstances which indicate an election to waive a forfeiture'." (Citation omitted). Id. at pages 943 to 944.

The Rule of Waiver is Applied
to all Breaches by the Tenant

In the court below, the plaintiff attempted to draw a distinction between the results of a breach for improper assignment (apparently conceding that acceptance of rent waived

an improper assignment), and for other breaches by a lessee. The cases apply no such distinction in holding that acceptance of rent is a waiver of the breach. The cases are clear that the waiver extends to "breach of covenant or other wrongful acts" [Brazeal v. Bokelman, 270 F.2d 943 at 946 (8th Cir. 1959)]. The cases cited involve waiver of breaches for failure to pay rent; Guptill v. Macon Stone Supply Co., 140 Ga. 696, 79 S.E.854 (1913); improper assignment, Jensen v. O. K. Investment Company, 29 Utah 2d 231, 507 P.2d 713 (1973); Bedford Investment Co. v. Folb, 180 P.2d 361 (Cal. 1920); Major v. Hall, 251 So.2d 444 (La. 1971); failure to post bond, Jones v. Della Maria, 191 P.943 (Cal. 1920); failure to pay taxes, Atkinson v. Trehan, 334 N.Y.S. 2d 293 (1973); Snyder v. Hill, 45 N.W.2d 757 (Neb. 1951); failure to build buildings, Wing, Inc. v. Arnold, 107 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 1959); improper use of the premises, Roseman v. Day, 345 Mass. 93 185 N.E.2d 650 (1962); and failure to repair, Larson v. Sjogern, 226 P.2d 177 (Wyo. 1951). In Larson v. Sjogern, the plaintiff attempted to forfeit a lease, alleging that "the fences on the land were not kept in repair in violation of the agreement in the lease and that the land was over-

grazed, and that a reservoir was built on the land without the consent of the lessor, and that this constituted waste". 226 P.2d at 182. Drawing no distinction between the facts presented by that case and any other waiver case, the Wyoming court held that by acceptance of rent, the alleged breaches had been waived.

Thus, the principle of waiver is universally applied to any breach by the tenant.

The Subjective Intent of
the Plaintiff is Irrelevant

In the face of the overwhelming authority that the acceptance of rent constitutes a waiver as a matter of law, the plaintiff says that in spite of its actions in accepting the rent, its subjective intention is controlling. It being clear that the defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law because of the admitted fact of plaintiff's inordinate retention of a rent check in June and July 1974 prior to giving notice of breach or filing suit and its later acceptance of rent in December 1974 and thereafter, plaintiff attempts to create out of whole cloth an issue of fact in an effort to avoid summary judgment.

The plaintiff now asserts that it accepted the rent payments, "as a gesture of good faith" pursuant to terms of a "tentative" settlement agreement and acceptance of rent was "a gesture of good faith". Plaintiff contends that it did not intend to waive the breaches when it accepted the rent (pages 9 and 10 of plaintiff's brief). The labored explanation of this contention is itself revealing, but it is also of paramount importance that there is nothing whatever in the record to support any such contention. The only item in the record is the letter of defendant's lawyer to plaintiff's lawyer dated December 23, 1974, by which the checks were transmitted and which states "I am pleased that you see the error of your ways, and as you requested I am returning herewith the rent checks you previously delivered to me. The following checks of Plitt Intermountain Theatres, Inc., are enclosed." (R. 90, Vol. 2). This item alone shows that no such agreement or understanding existed, but be that as it may, for purposes of this appeal, the whole preposterous proposition is not relevant.

There was never even a "tentative" settlement agreement, but merely a proposal explored by counsel that counsel agreed to present to their respective clients as a possibility

for settling the case. Also, as indicated in footnote 4 above, if the informal discussions between counsel are somehow to be interjected (and it is submitted that to do so would be grossly improper) the plaintiff must accept the fact that its own counsel was aware that accepting the rent raised the spectre of waiver, but nevertheless said his client wanted the rent.

It is apparently plaintiff's contention that "the question of appellant's intent" when it accepted the rent is a factual question that prevents summary judgment. However, the law is that the acceptance of rent by the plaintiff conclusively establishes a waiver. This is the teaching of all of the cases on this point. It is very seldom that a landlord announces: "By accepting the rent, I am hereby waiving all breaches". But the law says that certain conduct, the acceptance of rent, is as conclusive as such an announcement and precludes reliance on breaches occurring before the rent is accepted. Appellant simply cannot in one breath forfeit the lease and in another take the rent. It is significant that to this very day the plaintiff continues to accept the rent.

This legal principle is well expressed in the case of Miller v. Reidy, 260 P.358 (Cal. 1927), a case that plaintiff inappropriately cites in its own brief. In that case, the defendant lessee sublet the leased premises without the consent of the lessor in violation of the lease agreement. Immediately thereafter, the lessors took steps to bring about a forfeiture of the lease. Subsequent to that time, however, the rental payments required by the lease were paid and accepted. Upon each such acceptance the lessor executed a receipt stating that acceptance of rent was "without prejudice of any of my rights under the lease of said premises". In upholding the trial court's determination that in spite of such a reservation by the lessor, he had waived the breach of the lease by acceptance of rent, the California Appellate Court states:

"This was a clear attempt to eat the cake and still keep it. His actions belie his words. Waiver is a question of intention. (Citation omitted). For the lessors month after month to accept rents specified in the lease, and at the same time declare that there was a forfeiture, results in an irreconcilable inconsistency."
Id. at 360.

It is clear, therefore, that regardless of what a lessor's subjective intent may be, by his action of accepting rent with knowledge of a breach, he is deemed to have waived the breach.

Even if it is conceded, for purposes of the argument here, that plaintiff did have the "good faith" intention on which its argument here rests at the time it accepted the several past rental checks in December 1974, how can that immunize the plaintiff from waiver each month thereafter when it accepts the rent? Plaintiff certainly knew there was no settlement when it served a massive set of written interrogatories on April 8, 1975 (R. 43-52, Vol. 2) and a request for trial setting on April 28 (R. 58, Vol. 2) and discovery thereafter continued. The fact that appellant continued to accept the rent month after month firmly establishes its waiver of the alleged breaches of the lease.

Not one persuasive authority is cited by plaintiff in support of this main portion of its argument about its subtle subjective intention to take the rent and forfeit the lease. In the face of a very substantial body of law, plaintiff presents a handful of readily distinguishable and inapposite

cases and lamely cites two cases (perhaps for inapplicable dicta) the holdings of which are directly to the contrary of the proposition for which they are cited.

The case chiefly relied upon by the plaintiff acknowledges that the waiver need not be expressed in words and further states that a clear act of the party is sufficient to constitute a waiver and that it is not necessary that there be an express waiver. Lucas Hunt Village Co. v. Klein, 218 S.E.2d 595 (Mo. 1949). This case is factually inapposite and does not run counter to the plethora of authority cited above. In that case the lessor's bookkeeper, who handled 606 rent accounts, inadvertently accepted one month's rent after the lessee had breached the lease. As soon as the mistake was discovered, no further payments were accepted. There was in that case no evidence of "knowing" acceptance of rent. In the case here before the court, however, there is not, nor can there be, any claim of inadvertence or mistake by the plaintiff.

Brazeal v. Bokelman, 270 F.2d 943, although cited by plaintiff, does not support its position, as the holding in that case is squarely against that position. The same is

true of Miller v. Reidy, 260 P.2d 358 (Cal. 1927).

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